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Church Farm, Lewknor, Oxfordshire

Summary

Oxford Archaeology was commissioned by Regenerafiadings Limited to undertake a
programme of building investigation and recording @hurch Farm, Lewknor, South
Oxfordshire as part of the development of the sit@e investigation covered several farm
buildings at the site but was concentrated on thad@ | listed barn believed to have been
constructed in the second quarter of thd téntury and recognised as one of Oxfordshire's
most important medieval buildings. The significanéehe building largely lies in the fact
that it was originally constructed as a medievall ouse and was later abandoned and
converted to a barn. The fact that it was converiech barn, rather than adapted and
modernised as a house with the insertion of a chyrstack and upper floor, has resulted in
the primary fabric of the hall being relatively wpreserved.

The hall would have been a hugely impressive airactichly decorated with extensive
cusping and with an open truss that would have Beerdly paralleled for size in English
timber-framed buildings.' (Morrey and Smith,1978)hn Fletcher, who noted that the house
was most likely built by John of Lewknor (Knighttoé Shire in the 1330s-1350s), adds that
the building must have been 'one of England's ingstessive halls'@xoniensiaXL, 1975)

The interest of the building is enhanced by a sstjge that its construction may have been
interrupted or curtailed by the Black Death. Phydievidence suggests that the building
was intended to form part of a larger structure gpibly never completed) and the relatively
light smoke blackening to the rafters suggests #fidtough there was an open hearth the
hall probably wasn't inhabited for a long periodeidrochronology has provided felling
dates for three timbers in relatively close proxirtb the Black Death.

Due to its significance the building has been scibfje previous studies and programmes of
recording, but these were hampered by difficuliidésaccess and visibility. The current

investigation in more favourable conditions has rbexf value and has increased our

understanding of the structure. The principal tees identified by the current works have

been a series of mortices in the wall plate whiakiehshown that there would have been two
large projecting oriel windows to either side oéthall.

The other main area where the current work has aded understanding has been of the
western end of the building. When the main previstudies were undertaken in the 1970s
this area was almost entirely obscured by large emodyrain bins and it was hoped that the
removal of these would reveal further medieval il@bor at least evidence of the building's
original form. The bins have now been removed doriunately this has revealed that the
west end was completely reconstructed in the pesliewal period, albeit with a small
number of re-used timbers. A good record of thid ehthe building has been made which
can be added to the overall archive of the building it has not been possible to answer the
many remaining questions regarding the originalnfioof this end of the building. The
building may have had a similar footprint to thairgving or it may have been intended to
construct an adjoining range aligned with the paittere the primary fabric currently ends.

Other features identified in the current projectvhaincluded a number of impressive and
distinctive carpenters' marks.
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Church Farm, Lewknor, Oxfordshire

Historic Building Recording and investigation

1 INTRODUCTION

11 Background

1.1.1  Oxford Archaeology was commissioned by Regi@r Holdings Limited to undertake
a programme of historic building recording and aebiogical investigation at Church
Farm, Lewknor, Oxfordshire (Fig 1). Regenerationlditogs Limited were granted
planning permission for a development at the siwuiding the conversion of several
buildings, the demolition of others and the condinon of new dwellings, with the
condition that programmes of building recording abelow-ground archaeological
watching brief be undertaken. The planning perroissind current investigation do not
cover the recently listed house at Church Farm thedcurrent report only covers the
recording of the existing buildings at the siteheTlisted building description covering
the house is however included in this report aselgix B (together with that of the
barn).

1.1.2  The main focus of the investigation and recgyét Church Farm was the barn which is
believed to have been constructed in the first bélfhe 14' century and is a Grade |
listed building. The recording also included a nembf other unlisted buildings at the
farm (principally stable range and a granary) the tevel of recording for these was
much lower than for the barn, reflecting their brssignificance.

1.1.3 In February 2009 a design brief was issueRlzpard Oram (County Archaeological
Services) to cover the below-ground archaeologicatiching brief but no similar brief
was issued to cover the above-ground building kingr Therefore in April 2009 OA
proposed a methodology (detailed in a Written SaherhInvestigation) and this was
verbally approved by South Oxfordshire District @olil

1.1.4  The level of recording reflected the fact ttigt barn has been previously investigated in
some detail (particularly by the Royal CommissionHistorical Monuments, RCHM, in
the early 1970s) and the new work was intended dmptement and add to the
understanding of the building rather than to regicthe existing work.

1.1.5 A structural survey of the barn had previouséen undertaken by Monson structural
engineers and this showed that the building wasrielatively good condition. Therefore
the current development will only see relativelynon works to the barn.

12 Aims and objectives
1.2.1  The main objectives of the project were:

e to take the opportunity afforded by the currentedepment to produce an archive record
of the buildings at the site after the clearanca tifick layer of grain dust from within
the building and after the removal of the largdargkans;

e to record any features to be lost by the developme

e to add to the existing understanding of the dgwalent, history, use, function and
previous form of the barn.
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1.3.6

M ethodology

The building recording was undertaken durimge visits to Church Farm (21 April, 3
June, 17 July 2009). The initial visit was undeetalbefore the start of any repair or
clearance works while the other two visits were erteken after the barn had been
cleared of considerable grain dust which obscuradynof the details of the roof's timber
framing.

The recording of the barn was generally urdteri to Level Il (as defined by English
Heritage inUnderstanding Historic Buildings: a Guide to Goodderding Practicg but
when added to previous studies this creates aratbvevel 111-1V record of the barn.

The recording comprised three principal eleiies photographic survey, a drawn survey
and a descriptive survey. The photographic survegsisted of general views and

specific details (internal and external) and wadeuntaken using black and white print

film (35 mm) and a digital camera.

The drawn survey utilised existing plans aedations produced by the RCHME in 1972
as well sketch elevations produced by Monson iiir tfegort on the structural condition

of the building. The new work added annotation ainther details to the existing survey,

particularly in areas which have become visiblesithe RCHM work. For example the

west end of the main barn was substantially obstatdéhe time of the RCHM survey by

large grain silos but this area has now been expbgethe removal of the structures.
The current work has principally focussed on enlmpahe understanding of the

building rather than producing a metrically accaratirvey although the framing in the
previously obscured areas has been added to thdvRfE&lvings The drawn survey also
included the production of several important detiidwings such as the tracing of
remarkable carpenters marks. The descriptive suteeyplemented the other survey and
added further information to explain the buildifidne main recording was undertaken by
members of the OA Buildings Department.

The project has not involved new detaileddnistl research, largely due to the extent of
previous studies but it has utilised the principadondary sources (see bibliography) and
copies of the recording undertaken by the RCHMhim 1970s have been obtained from
the English Heritage National Monuments Recordviin8on.

A rapid programme of recording was also uraden on the other farm buildings at the
site (excluding the house). The stable and gramang photographically recording to the
same methodology as the barn and additional dese&imotes were made on these
structures. Rapid photographs were also takeneofrthdern farm buildings prior to their
demolition.

2 HisTORICAL BACKGROUND

21
211

2.1.2

Introduction and previous investigations

The barn at Church Farm, Lewknor is a Gradgdd, medieval building probably dating
from the first half of the 1% century. However, its considerable significance hat
always been recognised and it was only in 1969 #mtindication of the building's
interest was raised by Dr Peter Salway of All SoGlsllege, Oxford, who noticed
medieval timber framing with ornamental cuspingd&d by modern cladding.

In the following years the building was subjec considerable study and investigations
and these were reported in three separate artiolgsined irOxoniensia

1 Oxoniensiaannual journal of the Oxfordshire Architecturaid Historical Society.
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2.1.3

2.1.4

2.15

2.2
221

2.2.2

e Hilary Turner, 'The Great Barn', Lewknor: The Doantary Evidence®xoniensia
xxxvii (1972), 187-91.

e MCJ Morrey and JT Smith, 'The Great Barn' Lewkdre Architectural Evidence,
Oxoniensiaxxvii (1973), 339-45.

e The Medieval Hall at Lewknday John Fletcher Oxoniensia (1975), 247-53.

The 1972 article concentrated on the histband documentary evidence while the 1973
article concentrated on the architectural evidenod summarised a programme of
recording undertaken by the RCHME. The 1975 artattempted to answer remaining
questions from a regional and economic perspettiteconcluded that the building still
merited further study. The barn was formally lis@rade | in 1976.

In ¢.1989 a programme of dendrochronology wadertaken on the barn by Dan Miles
for the Ancient Monuments Laboratory of the HistoBuildings and Monuments

Commission for England. Four samples were takenthree of these provided felling

dates of 1339, 1342/3 and 1350/1 (see Appendix C).

In 2002 there was a previous proposal fordite when All Souls College (who had

owned the site since the mid "1§entury) intended to sell the site for a residanti

development, thus allowing Mr Graham (whose farhid been tenants since 1935) to
relocate their farm to the outskirts of Lewknor.

Documentary evidence

Research undertaken by Hilary Turner in tlohigies of All Souls College, Oxford (until
recently the owners of the current site) has shthab Church Farm was acquired by All
Souls College in 1440 together with other land @uvowson, the glebe land and the
rectorial tithes) probably associated with Abingddbbey. Several particulars of
accounts from the 1450s-1480s confirm the farm hees tbeing within the College's
ownership and evidence suggests that the acquidiid included an existing set of farm
buildings at the site. These buildings must hawenéad part of the rectorial estate and
among the structures was a barn and a 'Great BRietuments of the same period show
that a new Parsonage was added to this complex anooind 1440 and it may be that it
was constructed to replace the previous house ersite (the building in the current
study) which was converted to a barn. Turner'sclartconsiders that the barn was
therefore probably constructed by Abingdon Abbeyiclvhwould have had both the
money and the skilled craftsmen to erect a buildingh as that in the current study.

John Fletcher's article cast doubt on thigrpretation, and suggested that it was
‘particularly unlikely' that the Abbey would havenstructed the hall. Due to the cusps
and other detailing it is apparent that the buidimas designed to impress relative to
other comparable buildings in the region and basedarious stylistic evidence Fletcher
considered the building to probably date from c83350. Comparisons were
particularly drawn with other known hall houses stuacted in this region in the 14
century including Sutton Courtenay Rectory Housd320), South Moreton (c.1330),
Harwell (c.1360), Sutton Courtenay Manor House 38Q), and Marlow Rectory. If the
building was built in this period then Fletchertféiat John de Lewknor (c.1316-1360)
was the most likely person to have been respondineits construction. John de
Lewknor was of the family who had been hereditay tectors of Lewknor, and who
may have kept the Rectory Farm after Abingdon hadesd appointing the rectors. He
was a county gentleman, Knight of the Shire (M.&x Bxfordshire) between 1331land
1354. He was also responsible for rebuilding thet ead of the church between 1320 and
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2.2.3

224

1340 (Amery, 2006). Houses of this quality, typio& the last generation before the
Black Death, were in general built by people ofthiiatus in county society.

The relatively slight smoke blackening on ithef suggests a small number of fires in the
hall and Fletcher postulated that it might be th@ construction of the hall was

interrupted (or not fully completed) due to the &ddeath (1348-9). Fletcher's proposed
date for the building was subsequently supportethbyresults of the dendrochronology
survey (referred to above). The dendrochronology mlao support the theory that the
barn's construction or occupation was affectedngyBlack Death but it cannot confirm

this.

A report undertaken by Dr James Moir of Fikiasociates in 2002 raises the interesting
possibility that in fact the barn was originally nstructed elsewhere and that it was
dismantled and re-erected at Lewknor, possiblyases as the 1'8century. Although Dr
Moir does not state firmly that this is his belre does show that this possibility cannot
be discounted and that there are a number of pafoeadence which tentatively suggest
that this could be the case. Further documentasgareh may ultimately prove or
disprove this theory but the current study assuthast although the building has been
much altered it has not been moved to Lewknor fedsewhere.

3 BaRN DESCRIPTION

31
3.1.1

3.2
3.2.1

Introduction

Church farm is located close to the centréefknor and ¢.40 m west of the village
church. The barn is orientated north-west to s@ati- but for ease of reference in this
study the orientation has been taken as east tb Wherefore the main long walls are
taken as facing north and south. This follows theraation used in the RCHME study
and in theOxoniensiaarticles. As referred to above the current recagdhas been
undertaken entirely from the ground (or low ladfless there will be features (eg
carpenters marks) in the upper parts of the raaif lave not been identified.

Summary general description related to the original form of the hall house.

The barn at Church Farm is 15.25 m (50 ftgltwy 9.75 m (32 ft) wide and it has a
raised aisle type roof with clasped purlins. Asadletl above it is believed to have
originally been constructed as a richly decorated ball house. The eastern two bays
would have formed the hall itself and at the cewfréhis area there would have been an
open hearth with smoke allowed to escape throughrdbf. The hall would have been
€.10.3 m (34 ft) long and it would have had a clspan of 8.8 m (29 ft). The smoke
blackening on the rafters and other timbers (alted#tively light) appears to confirm that
there was an open fire in the hall but for how Idhg house was occupied is uncertain.
The trusses, frames, walls and roof in the aredhef hall would have been richly
decorated, particularly with cusping which partiaiurvives, and in these areas the
structure is clearly designed for display. The haduld have been illuminated by pairs of
projecting bay windows, ¢.2.6 m wide, in both noatid south walls (evidence of these
revealed in the current study) and the main en&an¢o this hall would have been
through the central arch of the spere truss (um)sria a screens passage. The screens
passage was immediately west of the spere trusbeywhd this there would presumably
have been a service range but this end of the ibgildas been entirely reconstructed,
possibly in the 18or 19" century, so that its primary form is unknown.
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3.3
3.3.1

3.3.2

34
341

3.4.2

3.4.3

3.5
351

3.5.2

3.5.3

3.54

3.55

External description

The significance of the barn at Church Fares kentirely in its internal form and in
structural features which are not visible from #eerior. From the outside the building
looks like an old but modest sized aisled barn #@rid not greatly surprising that the
deeper interest of the building remained undeteotei 1969.

The barn has a half-hipped roof, clad in ¢ieg, and the walls, which are largely clad in
weatherboarding of several phases, are now in poodition (Pl.2-4). The exception to
this are the lower sections of the east wall areddhstern end of the north and south
walls, which were reconstructed in the later 20thtary in concrete blockwork. The
main walls are set on a brick plinth and theretalledouble threshing doors in both the
north and south walls. The external cladding heenlstripped and replaced, some of this
prior to the site inspection, so the external timfages were not inspected.

Internal description
Introduction

The internal description below details eadssiframe (or truss) followed by each of the
main walls and roof.

The initial visit of the current recording jgat was undertaken after the barn had been
cleared of silos and other large obstructions whield limited access but before the

extensive grain dust was cleared from the timbgra lvacuum cleaner. This phase of

cleaning also removed a number of secondary detstuwch as various items on the

modern gantry but it left the gantry itself in-s&s well as a grain conveyor draped over
Frame 2.

Internal description: LONG WALLS
South wall (recorded by RCHM)

The phasing of the south wall divides into dmgely primary eastern two bays and the
western bay which has been entirely reconstrugessibly in the 18 century (Fig 6).

At the base of the roof is a stop-chamferagaeupvall plate (or cornice) which supports
the bases of each of the rafters and immediatelgwbehis is the more substantial

principal wall plate. The upper wall plate alignghwcurved horizontal braces (or knees)
at each corner of the former hall. Thus they setheewest side of the tie-beam from
Truss 1 to the upper wall plate and the east dideuss 3 to the plate. The principal wall

plate is scarfed immediately west of the Sperest(same 3).

The main framing in the south wall is entireBcondary but there are a series of empty
mortices in the underside of the principal walltplavhich provides an indication of the
former wall arrangement and this includes soménefrhost significant features revealed
in the current project.  Several of the morticekte to the former wall framing but
there are also four horizontal mortices now obsgrfee the first time on the outside of
the wallplates, immediately beneath the eaves,itweach of the main bays within the
former open hall (central and eastern bays). lextatdjacent to vertical mortices for
wall posts, the horizontal mortices are chased liawe an angled side) and would have
housed horizontal members which projected out ftieenexternal walls of the building at
an angle rather than at 90 degrees to the walR@|.

These could only have been intended for suimgptwo projecting oriel windows to this
elevation. In each bay the pairs of mortices farmirror image of each other so that the
sloped side is on the ‘inner' face and thus thendorprojecting horizontals would have
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3.5.6

3.5.7

3.5.8
3.5.9

3.5.10

3.5.11

3.6
3.6.1

3.6.2

3.6.3

converged towards each other. These horizontal$ hawe formed uppermost structure
of a bay or oriel window and they would have begintgd to a third member parallel to

the main wall. Presumably these joints would hagernbsupported by corner posts and
each of the whole oriels would have been suppdr@u beneath. The two mortices in

each pair are.2.6 m apart; this shows the width of of each wimdx its widest point.

Projecting oriels such as these would have beelatively common feature of medieval
hall houses such as that at Lewknor and the ideatibn of the evidence relating to it is

an important advance in understanding this buildiBgmilar mortices have been noted at
the Golden Cross, the medieval (early" I&entury) courtyard inn in Oxford. These

projecting first floor oriels survive in-situ an@furbishment works in 1986 revealed
similar mortices in the vertical face of the walhte (see South Midlands Archaeology,
1987).

The south wall framing in the western bayriirely secondary, contemporary with the
reconstruction of this end of the building, anccémprises a central post, two raking
struts and vertical studs.

North wall (recorded by OA)

The north wall framing (Fig 7) is also broadiyilar to the south wall. The eastern bay
of the north wall incorporates concrete blockwoplgt 1972) to the lower section and
secondary elm stud framing above. One of the mesnibethis frame (the sloped eastern
bearer or plate) may be a reused medieval member.

The western bay of the north wall again ipooates secondary stud framing but the
central post in this area is a reused medieval neemith long chase mortice to one side
and a deep, tapered trench which re-profiles timestace. The chase mortice and re-
profiled face suggest that this member may haven leeection from a tie-beam (or
possibly collar) and that the chase mortice wowddehhoused an arched brace. The post
is 3.43 m long and the uppermost 1.13 m (abovertheice and trench step) is moulded.
Assuming this member was a tie-beam the mouldetioseavould have formed the
underside of the central part of the truss betwtbertwo arched braces. As a comparison
the tie-beam in Frame 2 has a moulded centraloseof almost 4 m long (prior to the
20th-century re-setting of the aisle posts). I6tisi a surviving, reused tie-beam from the
medieval hall it would be of considerable significa and presumably was from the
western side of the screens passage (immediatady efe-rame 3) or from the service
bay beyond this.

Similarly to the south wall the wall platetire central and eastern bays of the north wall
has a number of empty mortices and among thesénareairs of horizontal mortices
from former projecting oriel windows. These moescare the same as those in the south
wall (detailed above) with slots to the underside gosts and slots to the outer face for
projecting members which would have extended froenwall at an angle to it.

Internal description: END WALLSAND TRUSSES
East wall and Frame 1 (Fig 3)

The east wall (Frame 1) of the barn would Havmed the upper (dais) end of the open
hall and it is an attractively decorated frame witisping and mouldings which were
clearly intended to impress visitors to the halig(B, PIl. 12). The wall divides into two
main elements: i) the truss and half hipped gablée wall beneath the truss.

The truss comprises tie-beam, principal raftexwer collar (or upper tie), upper collar,
raised aisle posts and curved struts between raisés posts and lower collar. Unlike in
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3.6.4

3.6.5

3.6.6

the other main frames the principal rafters areditinished. The upper part of the roof
(above the lower collar) is half hipped and thistes of the roof has been entirely
reconstructed with secondary rafters. The uppelacaos a smoke-blackened reused
primary rafter. The wall was originally entirely lgjad and the half hip is a secondary
alteration of unknown date. We can see that thd malt originally have been fully
gabled through empty mortices in the purlin soffit a former further bay of cusped
windbraces. These would have extended beyond ttrentuhalf hip. Between the lower
collar and the tie-beam are nine studs which ardéeleind the primary arched brace and
these all appear to be secondary (some reused m&nmrebably dating from the same
alterations as the half hip. There are two furtsieids to each side of the truss beyond
the raised aisle posts.

The tie-beam is chamfered and it is suppdoteéive posts which divide the main wall
into four bays. Three of the posts (central anchepposts) are full height from the plinth
while the other two posts are smaller in sectiod anly rise from the mid rail. Within
each bay there are two scratched Roman numeraém@ns marks on the tie-beam's
soffit which are different to the unusual primaranks found elsewhere in the barn (see
below) but are assumed to be primary.

Below the tie-beam there are pairs of cuspadds in each of the four bays between post
and tie. Behind the braces there are three secpratads (several smoke blackened
reused rafters) in each bay between tie and mid-fidie studs which hold the
weatherboarding are fixed with hand-made nailsrobpble 18 or 19" century date. In
the upper face of the mid-rail there is a trengpaaently along the entirely length of the
rail, within which the primary studs from the walould have sat. These would have
supported wattle and daub panels. There are alseradeother small mortices in the
upper face, which appear to be secondary and wdmehinside (ie to the west of) the
trench. At either end of the truss there is a edrkiorizontal corner brace tenoned into
the face of the tie-beam which extends around éonttrth and south walls. These corner
braces are found at each of the four corners ofdfreer hall and they are tenoned into
upper wall plates in the long main walls.

In the soffit of the mid-rail there are alssagies of mortices although at this lowest level
the wall has been almost entirely replaced by aastecblock which appears to have been
constructed since the RCHM recording in 1972. Tthesare known to have been intact
in 1911 as they are shown in a valuable photograpluded in the 2002 report by Dr
James Moir of Finial Associates. The three maintpdsentral and at each corner)
survive down to the plinth but the two smaller godiracing and studs have all been lost.
There are regular mortices for studs as well aslakger ones from the missing posts,
and within each bay is a mortice with two pegs Wwhiould have housed the upper tenon
of a curved brace. It is possible that these brage cusped similarly to the surviving
ones beneath the tie-beam but the photograph fi@th tnentioned above suggests that
they were not. The photograph shows plain strabghtes but they do not appear to
correspond with the existing mortices and smallestp beneath the mid-rail are not
shown suggesting that by 1911 the original arrareggmin this area had been
substantially altered. Therefore it is still possilthat the primary lower braces were
cusped but these had been lost before 1911. Frensutviving mortices it is apparent
that there would just have been a single bracadh éay as opposed to the pair of braces
in each bay above the mid-rail. The correspondavget mortices from the bases of the
braces are also apparent with three pegs eacle isidles of the the three surviving posts.
At the southern end of the wall is a small doorwathe concrete blockwork which leads
through into the modern barn (being demolishechendurrent works). This doorway is
clearly modern and would have been blocked by drtheformer braces. The plinth is
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3.6.7
3.6.8

3.6.9

3.6.10

3.6.11

3.6.12

3.6.13

of rendered brick. There are chase mortices inwthst faces of each of the two main
corner posts which would have housed braces imdiidn and south walls.

East central Frame 2 ('Open Truss' Fig 4)

The cross frame on the east side of the delména (Frame 2) would have formed the
central display truss of the original two-bay ogweil. It is now superficially similar to
the spere truss on the west side of this bay bsiisidue to a 20th-century alteration and
its primary form would have been significantly éifént. The original frame would have
been formed a remarkably wide, clear span belovbésm level for a building of this
date (c.8.8 m) but it has been altered by the igpomg of the arched braces towards
the centre in order to provide greater supporttfer tie-beam. In the original building
these braces would have been supported by the posés but they are now supported by
inserted 20th-century 'aisle posts'. Large emptytices with sloped shoulders are
clearly visible in both main posts (with 6 peg )land in the soffits of the slightly
cambered tie-beam (7 peg holes). The lower edgiheftie-beam is cut back slightly
towards the outer edges and there is a clear siem @t the points where the arched
braces would have sat. There is now a small blo5(cm wide) between the heads of
the two braces whereas they would originally haserbc.3.75 m apart.

It is known that this alteration was undertakethe 20' century because the braces are
shown in their primary position in the photogragferred to above from 1911 (PI. 1).
The photograph shows the southern arched braceodeppat its head by a large
temporary prop (apparently a circular section poBhe arched braces are each formed
from a single very large piece of timber (c.70 crnidevat the widest point) but the
southern member has had a new section added towardgpper edge on the east face.
The two braces are moulded with a central trenchth&r undersides and they each
incorporate three small mortices which probablydhelisping to the underside of the
braces and tie-beam. There are two similar smafitgmmortices to the underside of the
tie-beam immediate inside (ie towards the centfehe point where the arched braces
would have been located. These presumably helpetiotd the upper parts of the
cusping. There are further mortices in the faceshef main posts, immediately below
where the braces would have adjoined, which preblymhoused the bases of the
cusping.

A number of sections of iron strapping haeerbadded to strengthen the cross-frame
including plates between arched braces and tie lsaima long iron strap bolted to the
northern post. The west side of this post headbess cut back and re-profiled to the
allow the insertion of the ironwork; the east sidgowled. A modern horizontal bearer
has been added between the 20th-century 'aislegmakthe main primary post.

The truss within Frame 2 (above the tie)fisatsed aisle type and it appears to survive
largely intact from its original arrangement. Itngorises upper collar, lower collar,
principal rafters (diminished above the upper odllaaised aisle posts, lower principals
with arched heads supporting the aisle posts, drbh&ces beneath the lower collar and
cusping beneath the upper collar. There are assefienortices in the soffits of the two
braces which presumably would have supported fuxb@val cusping within the truss.

The eastern end of a™€entury gantry structure rests on the tie-bearkrame 2 and
extends to the corresponding tie of Frame 3. Thatrgais a simple structure which
formed a walkway to the former grain bins at thestivend of the building. There is an
opening in the guard rail on the south side ofdhatry suggesting that a ladder would
have extended up to this point.

West central Frame 3 (spere truss, Fig 5)
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3.6.14 The frame on the west side of the central(Bagme 3) comprised the spere truss, that is

3.6.15

3.6.16
3.6.17

3.6.18

3.6.19

the division between the cross-passage at lowemétice building and the main hall to

the east. The spere truss would also have formednidin entrance into the hall. This
cross frame remains very close to its original rageament with very few secondary
alterations. The truss is similar to that in Fralneith cambered tie-beam, lower collar
(also cambered), upper collar, principal rafterém{dished above the upper collar),

raised aisle posts, arched braces and lower pdtgifhe upper section of the lower
principals curves to meet the face of the raisstbgosts. There is cusping extant below
the upper collar and against the adjacent sectfothed principals and it appears there
would have been similar cusping to the arched lsrdmdow the lower collar. Each of

these braces has a number of peg holes and emptic@sowhich would almost certainly

have supported cusping. The uppermost pair of sestfrom the former cusping are in
the underside of the lower collar. The lowestis®ct of each of the two principal rafters
is supported by a secondary raking strut, the losvet of which is wedged between tie-
beam and the base of the raised aisle post, angh#mporary inserted purlin. The

primary lower principal is cut in this area to aldor the insertion of the secondary
purlin.

The tie-beam is chamfered to its undersidh stops immediately either side of the two
main aisle posts. Adjacent to each of these pesas iunusual carpenters mark in the tie-
beam's soffit (detailed further below). At eitherdeof the tie-beam there are curved
corner braces fixing the upper wall plate (whicbtseon top of the main lower wall plate)
to the tie-beam. The two arched braces beneathtithbeam each appear to be
constructed from two sections of timber and thditsofiave three empty mortices which
presumably would have held cusping. There are itedar mortices in the inner face of
each of the aisle posts below the arched braceshease probably would have held the
base of the cusping. Cusping survives within ezctine aisles between main post, aisle
post and tie-beam. Beneath this cusping is a twotét spreader within each aisle (c.3 m
above ground level) and further mortices beneaih gdhggesting that there was another
similar member between main post and aisle pogtach aisle at c.1 m above ground.
These former members would not have been structanal their function would
presumably have been to emphasise the centralneett® the hall beneath the arched
braces. They were presumably removed to allow aemoactical use of the space as a
barn.

West end Frame 4

The west end wall has been entirely recoostdu(together with the western ends of the
north and south walls) and we know very little abthe original form of this end of the
building (Fig. 8). The primary structure may hawalta similar footprint to that existing
today or it may have extended further west. Altéwady it may have ended further east,
a short distance west from Frame 3 if the consowoadf the building was unexpectedly
curtailed at this point (possibly for example b Black Death) or it may have adjoined
a separate (or proposed) building at this point.

The west wall now comprises a central pasi,further intermediate main posts and four
raking struts (between these three and the corostsp The wall between these posts
comprises vertical studs almost all of which appgedre of 26-century date.

The central post is formed from a reused envedlipost or tie-beam 3.65 m long by 28 cm
wide by 18 cm deep. There are three mortices albagorthern edge which would have
been the underside (if this was a tie-beam) andsmwvaller mortices for former studs on
the southern (formerly upper) side. The larger mest along the northern side include
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3.6.20

3.6.21

3.7
3.71

3.7.2

3.7.3
3.74

3.7.5
3.7.6

two 50 cm long chase mortices and a 30 cm long regedged mortice towards the
centre.

Immediately to the north of the southernrimexdiate post is a further re-used medieval
member with mouldings along its full length. Thss3.4 m long and its one flat face (to
the outside) is 25 cm wide. The central part of thinber is 20 cm deep but to either side
of this there are chamfers (not aligned with eatier) which reduce the size of the post's
cross-section. There are three mortices in the flae of the member: two chase
mortices and one flat-edged (similarly to the ottearsed member in this wall referred to
above).

Above the tie-beam in Frame 4 the wall fragnis similar and includes three reused
members which appear to be of medieval date.

Internal description: THE ROOF
General

The unusual roof was well described by Moargl Smith in 1973:

Above the tie-beam the roof was of raised-aisle tyjat is to say, it is in effect an aisled
hall raised high above the ground. The aisled feathus formed has square posts,
chamfered on the inner edges, which support plates a slightly cambered tie-beam
and which are themselves propped by braces, tenamedthe ends of the tie-beam
below. In the arch-braces which join the raisedlaiposts to the tie-beam are a series of
peg-holes and tenons which must have been intefodegbplied cusping like that below.
The topmost part of the truss comprises short fpadcrafters into the top of which
purlins are slotted; the principals are linked bycallar-beam which is supported by
cusped arch-braces and there are cusped wind-brées principals to purlins. The
topmost tie thus forms a clasped-purlin rofflote also that the upper principals are
truncated or diminished and are, above the pusfigjmilar size to the common rafters.]

Roof trusses

The individual roof trusses have been desdrdimve, each having a different character
according to its place in the roof, but all givisgpport to a unified roof structure
(subject to later changes).

South side of the roof

The roof comprises an aisle plate, supporethé raised aisle posts and pairs of arched
braces, and a purlin immediately above the upp#arsoof the trusses and also above
pairs of cusped wind braces. There are two pairaiofl braces within each full bay
extending between the main trusses and intermedipper collars. The intermediate
upper collars also have cusping the same as th#teomain trusses. At the eastern end
there is an empty mortice in the underside of thdip from where a former further
windbrace would have continued eastwards when nideoé the building was gabled (or
continued further west). There are 11 rafters m ¢lastern bay and nine in the central
bay; all of these appear primary and smoke blacdkenémmediately west of the spere
truss (Frame 3) the three first rafters appeara@fimary above the aisle plate but the
separate rafter sections below are secondary. Ehe plate at this junction is scarfed
immediately to the east of this junction, with aoni strap bracing the two sections, and a
secondary member now continues to the half-hippestwnd. The roof structure at the
western end (beyond the three primary rafters maat above) entirely comprises
secondary members which are relatively easy to tiijerby the lack of smoke
blackening. The secondary rafters are more slethder the primary ones and their lower
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3.7.7
3.7.8

3.7.9
3.7.10

3.8
3.8.1

3.8.2

3.8.3

sections are supported by an additional secondarynp The rafters are waney edged
and of possible 8or 19" century date.

North side of the roof

The wall framing and roof construction on tleeth side of the building is very similar to
that on the south side. The central and easters $iayive substantially from the original
construction with primary rafters and principal fonembers in-situ. The western bay
was again reconstructed in the post-medieval pepodsibly 18 or 19" century) with
waney-edged members and an additional straightebitaen the western corner to the
purlin. One minor difference with the southern sidehe roof is that there are no cusped
wind braces to the west of Frame 3.

The rebuilt West End of the roof

The reconstructed western third of the redddditionally supported by a frame formed
from machine-sawn softwood members which appeabetoof 19'-century date. The
frame has similarities to a king-post truss wittieeRbeam, king-post, principal 'rafters'
and various raking props which support the arcddéep and purlins. The 'tie-beam'’
extends east to west between the tie of Truss 3aaschall raised frame on the tie of
Truss 4. The 'tie-beam' supports a post (fixedhéotie by an iron strap) which extends up
to the height of the roof's upper collar and upperin. At its head the post supports a
horizontal bearer which itself supports the secongarlins in this part of the roof. The
'tie-beam' also supports two raking props whichqmtoat right angles to the tie and whch
support the arcade plates in the main north anthsoof slopes. The post is braced close
to its mid point by two angled members (like thess's principal rafters) and the heads of
these 'rafters' are secured to the post by anst@ap. The base of the two 'rafters' are
fixed to the tie. Immediately above the junctiortvieen these 'rafters' and the post is
another raking prop which is supported by the npost and which supports the upper
purlin in the west slope. This large frame coud dontemporary with the rest of the
reconstructed west end but it is more likely todneen added after the reconstruction to
prop the sagging roof.

Internal description: CARPENTRY DETAILS
Carpenters marks

Among the interesting features of the barmtified during the current works have been
a number of unusual and distinctive carpenters séFkg 9). At the east end of the
building there are a series of Roman numeral méflg 3) scratched to the underside of
the tie-beam and these are interesting but cormegitisetting out marks whereas on the
two main trusses of the hall (particularly the spéuss) there are a number of more
individual marks which may have had symbolic vatudormed a carpenter's 'signature’.

Setting-out (or assembly) marks are the mespgnised form of carpenters mark. The
marks are made during the initial framing procebem® the frame would be made in the
framing yard which may be adjacent to or some disafrom the construction site.
Once the frame has been made the joints would skemian order to facilitate the final
assembly on site. The assembly marks upon theeframable the carpenter to identify
individual joints - an important process as eadhtjwould be made to fit exactly and
often the final frame may have been constructedtibgrant workers led by a master
carpenter as opposed to a team of carpenters. Tdrereseveral different types of
assembly mark, the most common being Roman numscaised into the face of the
timber (such as those at the east end). Symboli&imgs made using the circular race
knife to form patterns are less common. Exampfehese have been found in the roof
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3.8.4

3.8.5

3.8.6

3.8.7

3.8.8

3.8.9

3.9
3.9.1

of the Chapter House at York Minster (late @€13the undercroft of the Merchant
Adventurers Hall in York (mid C19, Astley Hall in Lancashirec(1600) and Chichester
Cathedral (C18).

The marks at Lewknor includd=geur-de-lys symbobn the soffit of the northern arched
brace of the spere truss (Frame 3). This had begbed with a circular race knife with
approximately 40mm diameter on the circle. Thetrarpoint can clearly be seen on
photographs (Plate 19 and Fig 5). This is an ualuswark and probably an individual
piece of decorative graffiti or with some symbaghigrpose rather than forming part of a
series of assembly marks.

On the corresponding soffit of the southewhead brace in the spere truss is an unusual
V shaped mark with half circles (two to one sidel émree to the otherand again this
was scribe-cut with a race knife (Fig 5). It ikelly that the race knife had a central point
that enabled the user to make circular shapes pfoapnately 40mm diameter. This
central point is not found on post 18th century ragies. It is again unlikely that this is
an assembly mark and is probably a graffito or dstian.

Also on the spere truss a number of similarkmavere identified withhalf circles and
lines and these do form part of a pattern of assembliskené-ig 5, Pl 20). Each mark
includes a straight central line and half circleanehing to either side from this line. On
one set of marks there are two half circles toegitide while another set has a single
half circle to one side and two to the other. Cgpmnding marks are found to either side
of the truss on the tie beam soffit and side ofgbst. This mark is very similar to arrow
style markings seen elsewhere (eg. moulded roafstin the Chapel Royal Hampton
Court Palace c. 1536). It would appear that theetatwo half circles denote whether the
frame goes on the left or right with only one halttcle on one side of the barn and two
on the other. This appears to be made with theessine (40mm) circular race knife as
the two marks above suggesting they are all ofrélai date.

The formerly open truss (Frame 2) also hasesprarks but they are smaller and less
distinctive. They included a small looped shap¢henwestern arch and an 'r' shape to the
east (Fig 4).

Unfortunately it is very difficult to date gamters' marks purely on style and execution
as they were often individual to the carpentemmtarge projects assigned by the master
carpenter., however true assembly marks will ugudite to the period of the frame
construction. Graffiti is inaccessible locationgl\wrobably date to this period as well.
Recording of the marks found on timbers will enablemparison with other local
buildings of similar date and possibly allow reséars to trace the work of carpenters.

As referred to above the current investigatimhnot form a comprehensive record of the
building and the work was almost entirely undertaieom the ground. Therefore it is
likely that there are additional carpenter's marktghe upper sections of the roof which
were not identified and recorded. Indeed the cdgremorking on the building indicated
that he had seen a number of interesting markb®naof timbers.

Evidence of the modern use of the barn

The barn remained in agricultural use untierg years and as referred to above the large
grain silos had obscured access to the westernoéritie barn when the previous
recording was undertaken in the 1970s. These aildsother features had been removed
prior to the current project but evidence of theamained in the floor. There is a 10 cm
tall step across the barn, ¢.3.75 m in from thetwedl, and immediately east of this step
there are four cement-lined recesses within thereta floor. These recesses are c.__ cm
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deep and have the approximate shape of an uptynyresnid. Adjacent to the western
side of each recess is a small slope in the eddeeoimain step across the building and
presumably this would have a chute from the forgdasilos on the raised platform to the
west.

3.9.2  Also immediately to the east of this step ehare two modern post sockets: one adjacent
to the north wall and one adjacent to the south.waksumably these would have held
steel posts from the main frame across the buildingporting the silos. There are also
two further modern post sockets along the centna bf the barn's central bay which
presumably would also have held raised structuetsting to the modern use of the
building.

3.9.3 In the eastern bay there are two further modeatures in the floor each lined with a
brick edging flush with the surface. The eastemtuee is a plain square hole (c.f)m
which has now been infilled with concrete while thestern feature is larger, with an
irregular shape and retains its sunken form (cr@3leep; pl 18). Along the north edge of
this feature there remains a sloped, cement-linehee which presumably held the base
of a chute. There is also a sloped cement-lininghe western edge and part of the
southern edge but a low brick wall divides the ssdato two sections.

3.9.4  Other evidence of the 20th-century use ofbdie includes a raised gantry supported by
the tie-beam of the spere truss and open truss7{Ris well as surviving belts from a
grain conveyor.

4  OrHER FARM BUILDINGS

41 Introduction

4.1.1  Although the main barn is by far the most sigant building at Church Farm a record
was also made of the other structures

4.2 Stables

4.2.1  Adjoining the western edge of the south siiéhe barn is a range of stables which
extend c.24 m along one side of a yard. This raag®t shown on the 1815 Enclosure
map (reproduced in the Finial Associates 2002 r¢pord the structure all appears of
later 19" and 20' century date.

4.2.2  The stable range divides into two distinctredats (a southern half and a northern half)
which were probably of the same phase but the eamtthalf has undergone major
alterations in the 20century including the insertion of internal corterblock walls and
the construction (or rebuild) of the east wall. Bwvdence suggests that the northern half
may originally have been formed a cart shed omdlai building open-fronted to the east
and with an open-plan interior. The roofs of bothvies of the range were then re-
covered, possibly at the same time as the converdithe north block, with diagonally
set tiles typical of the inter-war period or mid"2&entury.

4.2.3  Thenorthern half of the stables comprises a secondary concretek ldast wall (PI.
25)and a brick west wall with a variation Flemistnd (generally three stretchers to each
header but inconsistent). The west wall (Pl. 26hposes three doorways and one 6-light
window, each of which is below a concrete lintet asther than the northernmost door
they all appear to have been inserted, probabliieatime as the wider alterations to the
north block referred to above. The door at thehwrt end of the west wall was probably
the only original entrance into the building fronetwest, when it is thought to have been
an open-plan range; this opening has a sliding .ddbe concrete block east wall

© Oxford Archaeology Page 15 of 22 November 2009



Church Farm, Lewknor, Oxfordshire Historic Building Recording and investigation

4.2.4

4.2.5

4.3
4.3.1

4.3.2

4.3.3

43.4

comprises three doorways and two windows each atiwére probably of the date as the
openings in the west wall.

The interior of the northern half is now diitlinto three rooms by two secondary
concrete block walls. The northern room is two bkysy while the southern rooms are
each of a single bay. The southern end wall wabrimk but this has been recently
removed to link the room with the adjacent spandl{e southern half of the range). The
roof of the northern range is supported by thresses typical of the later 1 &entury
(PI. 27) although two of these are now immediatghpve the inserted concrete block
walls. These trusses each comprise a tie beampttiwoipal rafters, two raking struts and
a vertical tie-rod at the centre. The principaltees are overlain by three purlins which
directly support roof boards. There are no commadters and the purlins are supported
by wedge-shaped blocks resting directly on thegpiads. The walls and roof structure of
this larger northern room are all painted white #melwest end of the truss in this area is
supported by a brick corbel within the brick wall.

Thesouthern halfof the stable range comprises four rooms alth@agyteferred to above

the party wall at the north end has been receptiyoved. The internal and external walls
are all of brick (variation Flemish bond similar tiee northern walls). The west wall

comprises three stable doors while the east wailtaines two stable doors and two
windows (although some of these have been recesttipved). Unlike in the north range

there are no trusses and the internal walls direstipport the roof, which comprises a
three-purlin structure similar to the northern stame. There are two ridge vents in the
roof.

Granary

The granary (Pl. 23-24) is a rectangular ptangle-storey building (7 x 4.5m) with a
slate-covered gabled roof and walls clad in wedtbarding. The condition of the
building is now very poor and it is being substalti rebuilt in the current project
reusing materials from the existing building.

The floor of the building is raised above grduevel but secondary works have altered
the arrangement of primary staddle stones, pasityuto the north wall. To this side of
the building the staddles have been replaced lnjich glinth comprising three brick piers
with flint infill between. The weatherboarding it north wall shows evidence of
patching and alteration. This wall has a centralrd@ay and two small windows, one to
each side, which have each been infilled with bimard The east wall includes a set of
double doors at the northern end and there isglesdoor at the western end of the south
wall. The south wall is particularly overgrown atia condition of the weatherboarding
is very poor.

Theinterior is a single room with a crude common rafter rocdcled by two evenly
spaced tie-beams which divide the room into thisaesbThere are no trusses and the roof
is further strengthened by four straight brace, aheach corner. Each of these braces
spans from the ends of the ridge to the junctiawbéen the tie-beams and wall plate. The
timber members all appear to be softwood and ndrteeovisible fabric appears older
than the 19th/20century. The walls are generally clad in hortaboarding but the
crude framing (vertical studs) is visible in thepep parts of the gable ends.

The granary retains a number of grain binbays and it has clearly been used as a
general store. The interior was unsafe to enterthadonly visual access was from the
doorways.
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4.3.5 The modern farm buildings which are being déshed in the current works include a

large single phase concrete frame barn which waapgnd the southern and eastern sides
of the main barn constructed with pre-cast concmeenbers. The corrugated panel roof
is supported by concrete posts with jowled headwlnch principal rafters sit.

5 C(ConcLusion

5.11

5.1.2

5.1.3

5.14

5.15

5.1.6

5.1.7

The Grade | listed barn at Church Farm, Lewks@ne of Oxfordshire's most interesting
and significant medieval buildings. It has beenlwesearched and investigated since its
potential importance was first recognised in 1969 the current programme of building

recording has highlighted previously unknown feadéurand it has increased our
understanding of the building's original form.

The significance of the building partly liesits considerable age with both stylistic evidence
and dendrochronology suggesting it was probablysttocted in the second quarter of the
14" century but the interest is greatly enhanced byfaht that the barn appears to have been
originally constructed as an important, high-stdttal house. The conversion of the hall to a
barn meant that it avoided the fate of most medibalis of having an upper floor and
chimney stack inserted. Therefore, although thiklibg is greatly altered from its original
construction it is still able to provide a gredtapression of the historic form of the hall than
most comparable converted halls.

Even without the interest of its partial prea&on as a barn the building would have been of
considerable significance due to its unusuallydasige, relative to other halls of the same
period, and the highly impressive nature of itsnrent cusping and other decorative
detailing. The Lewknor hall is an excellent repreative of high-quality domestic buildings
built in the generation before the Black Deathhwitofligate use of timber (e.g. secondary
wallplates), elaborate design (e.g. raised aishstcoction), and decorative features such as
cusping. These kinds of buildings have often lesssociated with county gentry, and there is
every likelihood that John of Lewknor was indeespansible for its construction.

There is also an added interest created bgutpgestion that the completion of the building
may have been interrupted by the Black Death oBAB4r that it may have resulted in the
building never being fully occupied.

The current programme of building recording peovided a good archive record of the
building prior to the current conversion works liubas also significantly enhanced our
understanding of the original form of the buildinQf particular interest has been the
identification of mortices in the wall plates whishow that there were four projecting oriel
windows from the north and south walls. Despite thélding having been previously
investigated no evidence had been found prior ¢octivrent project regarding the original
arrangement of windows and doors. Also of inteteste been the remarkable carpenters
marks which have been identified and recorded.sé@mad previously been obscured by the
thick layer of grain dust in the building which wasnoved prior to the current recording.

The upper roof has not been examined in d@ad is not being altered), but there is no
doubt that close examination from a scaffold toweuld reveal further details of interest.

The current project has also allowed a closgnaation of the west end of the building,
which was obscured by grain bins when the RCHMEettodk their investigation in the
early 1970s. This has shown that the west endeo$titucture was entirely reconstructed in
the post-medieval period (albeit reusing a smathiner of medieval timbers) and this leaves
a number of questions unanswered regarding theapyirform of the west end. The
reconstructed bay does not incorporate a largetityan reused timber as may have been
expected if a large timber-framed structure towlest of the spere truss and cross passage
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was dismantled and then reconstructed. The fattttleacondition of the main building is
relatively good also suggests against the podgiltiiat a large existing structure at the west
end was dismantled.

Oxford Archaeology
October 2009
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APPENDIX B. LISTED BUILDING DESCRIPTIONS FORCHURCH FARM BARN AND HOUSE

Building Name: Church Farm, Barn Approximately 3@tk&s East South East Of Farmhouse (not

Included)
Parish: Lewknor District; South Oxfordshire
LBS Number: 248940 Grade: |

Date Listed: 19 November 1976
National Grid Reference: SU7150697658

LEWKNOR CHURCH ROAD GV
SU7197 (East side)  10/94 Church Farm, barn appi@mx. 3
19/11/76 ESE of farmhouse (not included) (Forméstgd as The Old Barn at Church Farm)

House, now barn. Mid/late C14. C20 weatherboardingr heavy timber framing on brick base;
half-hipped roof, old tiles to left and C20 tilasright. Aisled 3-bay hall. C20 plank double doors.
Interior: left end wall has 8 panels of which toa4 cusped. Left truss: arch braces from wall to
tie beam were reset to centre when aisle posts inseeted to support long tie beam; queen-post
truss with tension-braced collar and arch bracesietoarch-braced collar above with clasped
purlins, diminishing principals and wind bracesgiRi spere truss: of similar construction, but
lower aisled part has arch-braced aisle posts #drky trefoil-cusped aisles. Probably built by
John de Lewknor, who rebuilt the east end of thea (g.v.) in the Decorated style ¢.1320-40.
Church Farm was acquired by All Souls College frAbingdon Abbey in 1340. Morrey and
Smith date the barn to between 1350 and 1440. Bwg$ of England: Oxfordshire, p.684; J.M.
Fletcher, The Medieval Hall at Lewknor; Oxonensi®].40 (1975); M.C.J. Morrey and J.T.
Smith, The Great Barn Lewknor, the architecturabdemce; Oxonensia, Vol.38 (1973), pp.339-
349; Eric Mercer, English Vernacular Houses, 197594; National Monuments Record).

Building Name: Church Farm

Parish: Lewknor District: South Oxfordshire
LBS Number: 504424 Grade: I

Date Listed: 15 February 2008

National Grid Reference: SU7145397674

1696/0/10007 Church Farm
15-FEB-08 GV I

Farmhouse with perhaps later C16 core, cased ak larid partly rebuilt in later C18; some C20
rebuilding and additions.

EXTERIOR: Church Farm farmhouse is a brick-caseditts-east facing building of three front
bays and two storeys, with dormer windows lightomgverted attics. The brick casing to the front
is typical of the area in that it exhibits the dextive use of blue headers; it is of two phases,
probably fairly close in date and of the later CI8e left-hand two bays are the older, the
brickwork irregularly bonded with reddish brickstiidark blue headers. This is a refronting, later
in date than the narrow-bricked gable wall to tb Which is probably of the late C17 or early
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C18 (projecting early C20 ground-floor window bagt of interest). The right-hand front bay is of
a more orangey brick, in a regular Flemish bonchwiiue brick headers producing a chequered
pattern. This probably represents a rebuildinchef €nd of the property (shown with an end-jetty
on an illustration of 1764), extending to includsteort, integral, single-storey range to the rear.
Front door to the centre (immediately against tightredge of the older two bays); C20 brick
porch (not of interest). The windows give an appr@ate symmetry to the front: three-light
casements to the end bays (those to the grounddlimitly longer than those above) with a small
two-light casement to the centre of the first floand a small pair of four-pane casements to the
left of the front door lighting the staircase withiMost of the windows have been renewed in
uPVvC.

To the rear-right a large external chimney stacthlint and stone lower part and brick above is
recognisably that shown on the illustration of 1784similar (but presumably rebuilt) chimney
rises from the rear-left. C20 brick lean-tos agathe rear of the house and against the ¢.1800 rear
range are not of interest, nor is the C20 briclelesion to the ¢.1800 rear range.

The roof is of red tile, relaid when the roof waatfy replaced in the early C20; two brick stacks
of this date rise from the centre of the older tvays and from the right-hand gable.

INTERIOR: The front door opens into a hall whichtends the full depth of the property, and
which extends left of the door (as entered) wheeéngple staircase of ¢.1800 leads off at right
angles against the outside wall. Front room witishen behind in right-hand bay; dining room in
left-hand bay; and small office in centre bay whiidthroom behind. Upstairs the plan is roughly
replicated, and there are some surviving plankextgjgperhaps C18. There is also a curved brace
visible in the centre-rear first-floor bedroom telg to the possible crown post roof above. The
staircase continues to the attic floor with a bedndn each end bay (only that to the right with
fireplace) and a store room to the centre. The attoms are set within the probably later C16
roof; this survives largely intact in the older tways with tie beams, collars and common rafters
(and thus possibly of crown-post type), as seentrlesirly in the closed attic space over the
collars. Over the newer bay is a replacement rbdfi®early C20.

HISTORY: Church Farm is identified by the Victor@ounty History as the rectory farm, the
living being in the possession of All Souls Colldfgem 1440. It was therefore either the college,
or its tenants by agreement, which successivelly Bnd rebuilt the farmhouse. The Church Farm
complex stands immediately west of St Margaretisraih (listed Grade 1) on the north edge of
Lewknor. The complex includes, on its east edg&rade | listed building, a mid-C14 aisled
house which was later converted to a barn.

SOURCES: Victoria History of the County of Oxford (8964), 98-115; J M Fletcher, 'The
medieval hall at Lewknor’, Oxoniensia 40 (1975)7-58; A Quiney, The Traditional Buildings of
England (1990), 54.

REASONS FOR DESIGNATION DECISION: Church Farm fawunke, Lewknor, is listed for the
following principal reasons:

* its core is essentially of the later C16, as sham an illustration of 1764

* two-thirds of the roof of this date is extant

* for its attractive external brick casing of thetd C18

* for its setting: its buildings include a Gradésted C14 barn, beyond which is the parish church
(Grade I) with which Church Farm was associatedriefiy.
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AprpPeENDIX C. BrIEF REPORT ONTREE-RING DATING

Source: Websitéhttp://www.dendrochronology.com/
List of dated Buildings in England and Wales [dogaded September 2009]

LEWKNOR, Church Farm, The Great Barn (SU 715 976)
Felling dates Summer 1339, Winter 1342/3, Winter 1350/1

Lower collar 1350 (30C); Principal post 1319 (H/Sgbeam of open truss 1338(17%2C);
Rear wall plate 1342 (22C%ite Master1188-1350 LEWKNER (t=10.5 READING; 7.4
OXON; 7.1 EASTMID; 5.8 ZACHS)

The Great Barn at Lewknor was formerly the printiesidence on the rectorial farm
belonging to Abingdon Abbey. The timber framinglkthat survives of this hall, the wall
filling having gone, and the building is now usedaabarn. The roof is of raised-aisle type
with clasped purlins and diminished principals,hagival cusped bracing, It was dated by
John Fletcher to 1325-50 on stylistic grounds, attidbuted to the Abbey’s hereditary
tenant John de Lewknot.(1316-1360; Knight of the Shire, 1331-1354). ¢thet’s
suggestion that the house was not completed, esu#t of the Black Death, or never fully
occupied, might at first seem to be corroboratethieyrange of dates given here. Itis
perhaps just as reasonable to postulate the usld of partially seasoned timber.

VAG Spring Conference Programme (1987), 7; M. @ldtrey & J. T. SmithOxoniensia
38 (1973); 339-45; J.M. Fletché&@xoniensiad0 (1975); 247-5. E. Mercegnglish
Vernacular House§l975), 338. Core samples taken by D. H. M. Nbies. T. M.
(Haddon-Reece, Miles, and Munby 199821, list 38)
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Church Farm House
(Not included in current works)

Il Modern Farm Buildings

Figure 2: Site plan
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Figure 3: East end wall, internal elevation
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Plate 3: Exterior of barn from SE duing demolition of adjacent modern
structure

Plate 5: Detail of east elevatio during removal of weather boarding

Plates 3-5
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Plate 6: General internal view of barn from east

Plate 7: Roof in east half of barn

Plates 6-7
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Plate 11: Detail of framing in Frame 3
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Plate 14: Roof at W end. therso left seconry.
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Plate 15: Secondary frame at W end of barn
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Plate 18: Modern trouéh/cte in floor of barn
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Plate 17: Secondary west end of barn

Plat 19: Fleur de Lis carpenters mark
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Plate 23: Grariéry from south
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Plate 24: Granary from east

Plate 26: West side of stables range
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Plate 27: Interior of north room of stable range



